



Document: OpenSRA User Manual

OpenSRA Version: 1.0.0

Author:

- Slate Geotechnical Consultants:
  - Barry Zheng: <u>bzheng@slategeotech.com</u>
  - Micaela Largent: <u>mlargent@slategeotech.com</u>
- SimCenter @ UC Berkeley:
  - Stevan Gavrilovic: <u>gavrilovic@berkeley.edu</u>





# **Table of Contents**

1	OpenSRA Application	1					
2	Summary of Instructions for Users	1					
	2.1 Additional Notes for First-Time Users	1					
3	OpenSRA Installation	3					
	3.1 Download Links	3					
	3.2 Instructions for Installation	3					
	3.2.1 Windows	3					
	3.3 Instructions to Uninstall OpenSRA	8					
	3.3.1 Windows	8					
4	OpenSRA Functions and Location Definitions	9					
5	Input Options	10					
	5.1 Visualization Tab						
	5.2 General Information						
	5.3 Infrastructure						
	5.3.1 Pipelines						
	5.3.2 Wells and Caprocks	12					
	5.3.3 Aboveground Infrastructure						
	5.4 Decision Variable						
	5.5 Damage Measure1						
	5.6 Engineering Demand Parameter14						
	5.7 Using Generic Models						
	5.8 Intensity Measure						
	5.9 GIS and CPT Data						
~	5.10 Input Variable						
6	Running Built-In Examples						
_	6.1 Details to Built-in Examples						
7	Constructing a New Scenario in OpenSRA						
8	Glossary						





# 1 **OpenSRA** Application

*OpenSRA* is an open-source seismic risk assessment tool designed as a desktop application that owners and regulators can use to evaluate the seismic performance of gas infrastructure and the potential effectiveness of system upgrades. *OpenSRA* has the capability to incorporate the Investor-Owned Utilities' (IOUs) proprietary data regarding their gas infrastructure systems for use with updated seismic demand models and methods, and fragility models developed in this research project. The tool provides a user-friendly interface to view results, including risk maps and exposure estimates.

*OpenSRA* enables a user to execute a scenario when the user provides information for the following parameters:

- General information
- Infrastructure
- Intensity Measure
- Engineering Demand Parameter
- Damage Measure
- Decision Variable

# 2 Summary of Instructions for Users

- 1. Follow Section 3 to download and install OpenSRA.
- 2. Run "OpenSRA.exe" to start the *OpenSRA* application (a shortcut of the executable is generated automatically on the desktop by the installer).
- 3. *OpenSRA* comes with pre-configured examples, which can be accessed through the "Examples" drop-down menu in the task-bar located at the top of the application window (see screenshot below).



## 2.1 Additional Notes for First-Time Users

- 1. If you experience errors while running *OpenSRA*, please contact the developers (listed on the first page of this manual).
- 2. It may take slightly longer to launch the OpenSRA application on the first run.





3. The default folder for outputs is the working directory, e.g.,

".../[YourAccount]/Documents/OpenSRA/". Users can change the output directory, i.e., the "Working Directory," in the "General Information" tab.

4. A file named "debug.log" is created and stored under the working directory. If the user changes the working directory on the "General Information" tab, then the debug.log file will be stored in the user specified location. This file tracks the runtime messages and errors returned by the application.





×

# 3 **OpenSRA** Installation

*OpenSRA* is tested to work on Windows 10. Only 64-Bit computer architectures are supported. The *OpenSRA* installation requires about 3.3 GB of available hard disk space. The additional folder with prepackaged datasets requires about 8.7 GB of available hard disk space after decompression. This set of data is primarily used in the below ground infrastructure examples provided in *OpenSRA*. Users should expect a total of about 12 GB of disk space to fully run the examples in *OpenSRA*.

## 3.1 Download Links

- Software Installer (Windows, 64-Bit): OpenSRA for Windows
- Compressed Folder with Datasets: OpenSRA Datasets 230108.zip

## 3.2 Instructions for Installation

#### 3.2.1 Windows

- 1. Download the installer from the link above. Note that users may encounter a security measure to block the download (see screenshots below).
  - a) Click on More Info
  - b) Then click on Run Anyway

# Windows protected your PC

Microsoft Defender SmartScreen prevented an unrecognized app from starting. Running this app might put your PC at risk. More info

Page 3







- 2. Run the executable and follow the on-screen instructions to install *OpenSRA*. It is recommended to install *OpenSRA* in the default location provided by the installer. *OpenSRA* can be run by double-clicking the "OpenSRA.exe" shortcut on the desktop.
- 3. Once a shortcut is made right click on the OpenSRA icon and select Properties
  - a. Under **Compatibility** check the box next to **Run this program as an** administrator





	Open	
	<ul> <li>Share</li> </ul>	
	Copy Link	
	Manage access	
	View online	
	Version history	
	$\checkmark$ Always keep on this device	
	Free up space	
	Open file location	
	👎 Run as administrator	
	🔀 Edit with Spyder	
	Troubleshoot compatibility	
Open	Pin to Start	
	🛟 Scan with Microsoft Defender	
	💽 Open with TextPad	
	Pin to taskbar	
	Restore previous versions	
	Send to	
	Cut	
	Сору	/
	Create shortcut	
	Delete	
	Rename	
	Properties	





🔊 OpenSRA Prope	rties		×				
Security	Details	Previous	Versions				
General	Shortcut	Cor	npatibility				
If this program isn't running the compat	working correctly or ibility troubleshoote	n this version of r.	Windows, try				
Run compatibility	roublesnooter						
How do I choose co	ompatibility settings	manually?					
Compatibility mode	)						
Run this progr	am in compatibility r	mode for:					
Windows 8		$\sim$					
Settings							
Reduced colo	r mode						
8-bit (256) color	$\sim$						
Run in 640 x 4	80 screen resolutio	n					
Disable fullscr	een optimizations						
Run this progr	am as an administra	ator					
Register this p	rogram for restart						
Change high DPI settings							
Change setti	ngs for all users						
	OK	Cancel	Apply				

- 4. Next download the prepackaged datasets "OpenSRA\_Datasets\_230108.zip"
  - a. Unzip files, and rename folder "Datasets"
  - b. Next, move the unzipped folder to "Installation Directory/OpenSRA/OpenSRA/lib" (shown in the screenshot below)





	> OpenSRA > OpenSRA > lib
Name	Date modified
📙 Datasets	3/25/2023 7:42 AM
LCI_Qfault_UCERF3_preprocess	3/24/2023 6:43 PM
NGAW2_Supplement_Data	3/24/2023 6:43 PM
📙 OpenSHA	3/24/2023 6:43 PM
📙 OtherData	3/24/2023 6:43 PM
UCERF3	3/24/2023 6:43 PM

- c. For the Datasets:
  - i. When you click into the folder, it should look like the following:

ame Date modified Type Size
BayArea_GeologicMap_WitterEtal2006_W 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_Aspect_30m_WGS84 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_CTI_90m_WGS84 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_DEM_90m_WGS84_meter 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_DistAnyWaterNoWB_1km_WGS84_km 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_DistCoast_1km_WGS84_km 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_DistRiver_1km_WGS84_km 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_FltHazZones_Primary_SC1_200m_WG 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_FltHazZones_SC2_200m_WGS84 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_GeologicMap_CGS2010_WGS84 1/8/2023 8:20 PM File folder
CA_GeologicMap_WillsEtal2015_WGS84 1/8/2023 8:20 PM File folder
CA_LandslideInventory_WGS84 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_NaturalGasPipeline_WGS84 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_Precip_1981-2010_1km_WGS84_mm
CA_Slope_30m_WGS84_degree 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_Vs30_WillsEtal2015_WGS84_mps 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
CA_WaterTableDepth_1km_WGS84_meter 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
LosAngeles_GeologicMap_BedrossianEtal 1/4/2023 6:59 PM File folder
AvailableDataset.json 1/8/2023 8:23 PM JSON File 8

- 5. When you run *OpenSRA* as an administrator, you will be asked "Do you want to allow this app from an unknown publisher to make changes to your device?"
  - a. Select Yes





3.3 Instructions to Uninstall OpenSRA

#### 3.3.1 Windows

- 1. Click on the **Start** button
- 2. Find OpenSRA in the apps
- 3. Right-click on OpenSRA icon and click on Uninstall
- 4. Find OpenSRA in the Programs and Features dialog
- 5. Double click on the *OpenSRA* icon and select the **Remove all components** selection and click on **Next**
- 6. Click on the **Uninstall** button

If this does not work try the following:

- 1. Click on the Start button
- 2. Find "Add or Remove Programs"
- 3. Select OpenSRA in the list and click Uninstall
- 4. Once prompted select Remove all components and Next





# 4 *OpenSRA* Functions and Location Definitions

This section outlines the different components of the software interface that users will be using to run the examples and future analyses.

The build barryons hear they do map	
OpenSRA: Open-Source Seismic Risk Assessment Tool	
General Information Infrastructure	15
Decision Variable	
Damage Measure Website	
Pengineering Pengan Parameter , & Gebiode Stattsever, & Gebiode St	
Intensity Messure	
GS and CPT Data	No. of the second se
Variables	
Identify         Select           Add selected assets to analysis list         Add Assets	
	E # EPCC 1957
PREPROCESS PERFORMANALYSIS Exit	
Program Dutput	e ×
80:853 - after 320 eventse 455.74 sec	^
18:15:19	

**Task-bar** - the horizontal bar with drop-down lists at the top of the *OpenSRA* window (outlined in red).

Left Side-bar - the vertical bar on the left side of the *OpenSRA* window where the user can switch between tabs including General Information, Decision Variable, Damage Measure, Engineering Demand Parameter, Intensity Measure, GIS and CPT Data, and Input Variables.

**Bottom Ribbon** - the three buttons at the bottom of the *OpenSRA* window (outlined in green). Sometimes the ribbon can become obstructed; to fix, adjust the size of the *OpenSRA* window.



To adjust the window, select the window reduction button in the top right-hand corner to shrink the window (see figure above); once shrunk, click the full-screen button (again in the upper right corner of the window, see figure below).







If resizing does not fix the problem, try completely minimizing the window and reopening.

**Project Output –** the bottom dialog widget that updates the user on the progress of preprocessing and analysis run (outlined in blue).

# 5 Input Options

The following section outlines the available input options including data importing, models included in the software, and analysis options.

# 5.1 Visualization Tab

The **Visualization** tab (in the left side-bar) shows the assets that have already been imported (in the below picture the aboveground component Example 1 is loaded). The left portion of the screen (outlined in red) allows the user to toggle on and off different components of the map.

The top drop-down menu (outlined in green) allows multiple base maps to be imported and viewed in the viewport. In the figure below, the ESRI map is being viewed as well as the Loma Prieta ShakeMap. Once the user's analysis is complete, results will be shown in this tab.

On the lefthand side of the screen, a menu pops up (once the analysis is performed) where the user can toggle between scenarios, showing different failure mechanisms as well as leakage/rupture combinations.









By clicking the **Identify** (above in red) button a secondary side-bar will pop up on the right (above in green). This secondary side-bar contains the results for the highlighted component.

The user can also click on assets shown in the viewport and select **Add Assets** (outlined in yellow); this will add the assets to the analysis.

## 5.2 General Information

The **General Information** tab (in the left side-bar) allows the user to redirect where results will be output and gives the user an explanation of each of the other tabs.



## 5.3 Infrastructure

The **Infrastructure** tab (in the left side-bar) allows the user to import their infrastructure. They can select Pipelines, Wells and Caprocks, and Aboveground Infrastructure by clicking the buttons outlined in red below. The user simply selects whether they are importing CSV file or a GIS file in the drop-down menu highlighted in yellow.

Visualization	Infrastructure																				
	Pipelines	Above Ground	Gas I	nfrastructi	ure	IS to Above Grou	und Infrastructure					-									
General Information	Wells and Caprocks	Load above gro	und cor	nponent inf	ormation	from a GIS file (.	shp, .gpkg, .gdb)	04 Belgers 201001/0		F- 41			and the factor	a data anta		(Treasure)					
	Above Ground Gas Infrastructure	Path to me: [C:]	Users/1	Micaelacarg	ent/Down	loads/ OpenSPOL	Kelease_221231/Opens	/04_/(elease_221231/0	Above	e Ground G	as Infrastructure Infor	mation	_ground_inro/sic	е_оаса.дркд				browse			
Infrastructure	Future Infrastructure	fid	ID	LON	LAT	SUBSYSTEM	TREE_HEIGHT_[FT]	TREE_HEIGHT_[M]	LP6_[FT]	LP6_[M]	VALVE_WEIGHT_[LB]	VALVE_WEIGHT_[KN]	elbow_exist	tee_exist	h_vessel_ft	h_vessel_m	h_d_ratio_vessel	p_vessel_psi			
	(Not Functional)	1	1	-121.48195	37.99732	4	9	2.7432	8	2.4384	270	1.201019532	true	true	36	10.9728	4.85	3800			
GIS and CPT		2	2	-121.48195	37.99732	4	13	3.9624	16	4.8768	570	2.535485679	true	true	36	10.9728	4.85	3800			
Data		¢																>			

The imported assets will then be shown in the characteristic table which includes latitude and longitude points, and other characteristics specific to the asset type.





#### 5.3.1 Pipelines

When **Pipelines** is selected, there are 5 options to upload infrastructure.

	Use Prepackaged Bay Area Pipeline Network
	CSV to Pipeline
ga	GIS to Pipeline
rk"	Use Prepackaged State Pipeline Network
	Use Prepackaged Bay Area Pipeline Network
	Use Prepackaged Los Angeles Pipeline Network
	Locations and Characteristics of the Components to the

There are three prepackaged options, including a pipeline database containing transmission pipelines throughout California.

#### 5.3.2 Wells and Caprocks

When **Wells and Caprocks** is selected, the user can either import a CSV file or a GIS file. It should be noted that either selection also needs a directory containing well traces, and path to caprock shapefile. Each trace file should contain a minimum of two points (top and bottom). If the actual trace is not known, then the user should assign the latitude and longitude point at the top of the well, provide an approximate depth to the bottom, and the program will assume a vertical well.

Pinelines	Wells and Caprocks	CSV to Wells and Caprocks
Wells and Caprocks	Load information from a CSV file	
Above Ground Gas Infrastructure	Directory containing well traces:	
Future Infrastructure	Path to caprock shapefile or folder with s	hapefile:

#### 5.3.3 Aboveground Infrastructure

When **Aboveground Gas Infrastructure** is selected the user can import either a CSV file or a GIS file.

Infrastructure		
Pipelines Wells and Caprocks Above Ground Gas Infrastructure Future Infrastructure	Above Ground Gas Infrastructure Load above ground component informati Path to file:	GIS to Above Ground Infrastructure on from a GIS file (.shp, .gpkg, .gdb)

#### 5.4 Decision Variable

The **Decision Variable** tab (in the left side-bar) allows the user to select the models to calculate the decision variable (typically leakage or rupture). The options within this tab change based on the asset selected in the **Infrastructure** tab.









Each decision variable has a drop-down menu for "Available Method(s)" which currently has the models developed by the research teams within this project (red) listed. Once selected, the method and its weight will be shown in the right sidebar (outlined in yellow). Below the drop-down menu there are instructions on the model (green), including inputs that will need to be entered on the **Input Variable** tab described later.

Currently the models included are based on the research within this project, as such there is only one option for each decision variable.

## 5.5 Damage Measure

The **Damage Measure** tab (in the left side-bar) allows the user to select the models to calculate the damage measure (typically strain). Similar to the previous tab, the options within this tab change based on the asset selected in the **Infrastructure** tab.



Similar to the **Decision Variable** tab, this tab has a drop-down menu to select available models (red), a list of selected models and weights (yellow), and instructions for each model (green).





		List of Cases to Run
Available Method(s)	^	BainEtal2022_and_HutabaratEtal2022 - weight=1
Bain et al. (2022) and Hutabarat et al. (2022)	<u> </u>	
Return description.		
This method returns lateral spread induced tensile and compressive strain" for pipeline segments.		
Return parameter labels used by OpenSRA backend (presented here for making generic model):		
No return parameters		
Upstream dependencies:		
This method requires a method for permanent ground deformation from the "Engineering Demand Parameter - Lateral Spread" tab.		
Additional input parameters (visit the "Input Variables" tab to modify the variable values):		
1. d_pipe:		
[mm] pipe outside diameter - required for "level 2 and 3" analysis		
2. t_pipe:		

Each damage measure only has one model. Most of the damage measures simply need the model to be selected. However, when **Aboveground Structures** is selected in the **Infrastructure** tab, the damage measure of **Wellhead Strain** also needs a high-pressure weight (weight to apply to high pressure model, ((1-weight) will be the low pressure weight).



## 5.6 Engineering Demand Parameter

The Engineering Demand Parameter (in the left side-bar) allows the user to select the model to calculate the engineering demand parameter (usually probability of deformation or probability of a geohazard occurring). Similar to the models on the Decision Variable and Damage Measure tabs, the options within this tab change based on the asset selected in the Infrastructure tab. Unlike the other two tabs, each engineering demand parameter has multiple models to choose from. However, Polynomial Chaos assumes a (log)normal distribution, if models are combined with different weights this assumption may not be true. It is suggested that only one model be used at a time.





Engineering Dema	and Parameter (EDP)	Engineering Dema	and Parameter (EDP)		
				Engineering Dema	and Parameter (EDP)
	Landslide		Wellhead Rotation —		-
Landslide	Available Method(s)	Wellhead	Available Method(s)	Surface Fault	Surface Fault Ruptur
	Bray and Macedo (2019)	Rotation	Pantoli et al. (2022)	Bupture	Available Method(s)
	Return description:		Return descr	Rupture	Thompson (2021)
Lateral Spread	This method		This n		Return desci
	Return parameter la		Return paran		This I
	1. pgdef		1. rot		Return para
Liquefaction	Upstream depender		2. rot		1. po
Liquelaction	This method		3. rot		Upstream de
l'aver fa atlan	Additional input par		4. rot		I NIS I
Liquefaction	1. slope:		5. rot		Additional II
	[deg] slope a		6. rot		1. None:
Settlement	2. t_slope:		7. rot		Inis
Surface Fault	[m] slope thi		8. rot		
Rupture	3. gamma_soil:		9. rot		
Rapture	[KN/m^3] u		10. re		

Most engineering demand parameters simply need the model to be selected however, when analyzing pipelines for probability of landslide there is the option to utilize a landslide inventory. The California landslide inventory is included as the default, or the user can upload their own polygon shapefile.

Use a shapefile with deformation polygons?		
First check the box, then either leave as "CA_LandslideInventory_WGS84" or browse and locate the shapefile	CA_LandslideInventory_WGS84	Browse

## 5.7 Intensity Measure

The **Intensity Measure** tab (in the left side-bar) allows the user to choose how the ground motion is being predicted. The user can either import a ShakeMap and select the intensity measure they would like to use (PGA or PGV), use the UCERF3 seismic source characterization with four of the NGA-West2 models, or import a user-defined rupture.





Intensity Measure (IM) ShakeMap	
To import ShakeMap files, please download the files fr them in the folder specified below:	rom the ShakeMap website and place
	Browse Load
At a minimum, the folder must contain the 'grid.xml' fi	ile.
Click 'Load' to load the ShakeMap. Multiple ShakeMaps folder containing a ShakeMap, and clicking 'Load' again	s can be added by selecting another n.
The list of loaded ShakeMaps will appear on the right.	
Select the type of Intensity Measure (IM) to visualize	PGA PGV

Intensity Measure (IM)	UCERF3 (Preferred)
Seismic Source Model: Mean UCE	RF3 FM3.1
Filters	
Distance (km)	
Magnitude	
Mean Annual Rate	
Ground Motion Model: NGAWest	2 2014 Averaged, No Idriss
Vs30 (m/s); preferred: default values	s used in OpenSHA
Preferred	
Source for Vs30 inferred or measure	d, preferred, inferred
Preferred	a, preferred, interred
Trefeffed	
Depth to Vs of 1.0 km/s (km), prefer	red: default values used in OpenSHA
Preferred	
Depth to Vs of 2.5 km/s (km), prefer	red: default values used in OpenSHA
Preferred	





Intoncity Moscure (IM)			
Intensity Measure (IM)	User-defined Rupture		
This tab allows you to provide	the user-defined CSV file. Please see the examp		
CSV file with user-defined fault rup	otures		
Note: the user-defined ruptu	re CSV file must contain the following columns		
Column 1 label: EventID	Desc: User-specified IDs (e.g., 1, 2, 3)		
Column 2 label: EventName	Desc: User-specified event names		
Column 3 label: Magnitude	Desc: Moment magnitude		
Column 4 label: AnnualRate	Desc: Mean annual rate		
Column 5 label: Dip	Desc: Dip angle (deg)		
Column 6 label: Rake	Desc: Rake angle (deg)		
Column 7 label: DipDir	Desc: Dip direction (deg)		
Column 8 label: UpperDepth	Desc: Upper seismogenic depth (km)		
Column 8 label: LowerDepth	Desc: Lower seismogenic depth (km)		
Column 8 label: FaultTrace	Desc: List of fault traces (lat/lon,z), with commas (,)		

#### 5.8 GIS and CPT Data

When performing Level 3 analyses (site-specific), this tab allows the user to import GIS and site investigation data (currently CPT). Once imported, the characteristic table will be filled out with information on the CPT.

The drop-down menu, highlighted in red, allows the user to switch between site investigation data and GIS data. When "User Provided GIS Data" is selected, the user needs to enter a file path to import the GIS data.

Geospatial Data	User Provided GIS Data			
To import GIS files, please place them in	n the following folder:			
Files must be in a valid GIS format (*.g. The list of loaded GIS maps will appear	eojson, *.gpkg, *.tif, or *.shp) and in the WGS 84 (EPSG:4326) coordinate reference on the right.	e system.		

When "Site Investigation Data (currently supports CPTs only)" is selected, the user provides a file path to a summary file and a file path to the folder containing the CPT data. The user then will need to specify the column that includes groundwater (N/A if not included), assign weights for liquefaction/lateral spread models, if available, include a shapefile of the free-face feature





(for lateral spread analyses), and apply a method for use for the depth-weight factor for CPT processing (optional).

Geospatial Data	Site Investigation Data (currently supporting CPTs only)	
This tab allows you to enter CPT-	related data to be used in CPT-based methods under "Liquefaction",	, "Lateral Spread", a
1. CPT Summary file in csv format - m 2. Folder containing CPT files in csv fo	ust contain the columns "CPT_FileName", "Longitude", and "Latitude":	
Geospatial Data Site Investigation Data (currently suppo	ting CPTs only)	

. CPT Summ	ary file in csv format - must cor	ntain the columns "CPT_FileNa	me", "Longitude", and "Latitude":	C:/Program Files/Oper	SRA/OpenSRA/examples/other	_data/GIS_Data/BalboaBlvdCP	Ts/Summary.csv			Brows
. Folder con	aining CPT files in csv format -	file names must match those i	n the "CPT_FileName" column abo	ove: C:/Program Files/Oper	: C:/Program Files/OpenSRA/OpenSRA/examples/other_data/GIS_Data/BalboaBlvdCPTs/CPTs					Brows
Note: each	CPT datafile must contain	the following columns								
	Column 1 label: Desc: depth (m	: <b>z</b> )	Column Desc: tip re	2 label: qt sistance (MPa)		Column 3 label: fs Desc: sleeve friction (MPa)		Column 4 I Desc: pore pre	a <b>bel: u2</b> ssure (MPa)	
ID	CPT_FileName	CPT_Date	Datum	Longitude	Latitude	Datum	Mean GWT	Mean GWT NR	Mean GWT S	ŝF
)	LAC041.csv	4/12/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.501993	34.283897	WGS84	15	15	15	
1	LAC042.csv	4/12/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.501982	34.283302	WGS84	9.4	9.4	11.4	
2	LAC043.csv	4/12/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.501999	34.283049	WGS84	9.1	9.1	11.1	
	LAC044.csv	4/12/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.501997	34.282896	WGS84	8.5	8.5	10.5	
	LAC047.csv	4/13/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.502	34.282508	WGS84	8.2	8.2	10.2	
	LAC048.csv	4/13/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.501997	34.2823	WGS84	7.9	7.9	9.9	
	LAC049.csv	4/13/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.502003	34.28203	WGS84	7.9	7.9	9.9	
	LAC051.csv	4/13/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.501987	34.281146	WGS84	7.2	7.2	9.2	
	LAC053.csv	4/14/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.502009	34.280524	WGS84	7.6	7.6	9.6	
	LAC054.csv	4/14/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.502006	34.28038	WGS84	8.2	8.2	10.2	
0	LAC055.csv	5/12/1995	NAD 27 UTM Zone 11 N	-118.502004	34.280262	WGS84	8.4	8.4	10.4	
Column in	summary file with mean ground	water depth in meters:		Mean GWT NR	-					
Assign wei	ghts to use for "liquefaction" an	d "lateral spread" analysis of C	PTs:							
Liquefaction: weight for Robertson (2009): 0.5 , weight for Boulanger & Idriss (2016) = 1 - weight for Robertson (2009)										
Lateral spread: weight for Zhang et al. (2004): 0.5 , weight for Idriss & Boulanger (2008) = 1 - weight for Zhang et al. (2004)										
5. (Optional) Path to folder with shapefile for free-face feature (must contain the attribute "Height, m"): C/Program Files/OpenSRA/OpenSR										

## 5.9 Input Variable

The **Input Variable** tab (in the left side-bar) will change based on the analysis you are running. The variable will automatically update according to the fragility models selected within the **Decision Variable**, **Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs. There are a lot of components to this page, as such it is recommended that the instructions on the tab be referenced before use.

The variables can be manually adjusted or use the "Preferred" values. In the figure below, the drop-down menu under source allows the user to select "Preferred," "From the infrastructure table" which imports from the characteristic table imported in the "Infrastructure" tab, or "From user-provided GIS maps" which is also imported in the "Infrastructure" tab.

Name	Description	From Model	Source
coh_soil		Landslide-BrayMacedo2019	Preferred 🔹
gamma_soil		Landslide-BrayMacedo2019	Preferred From infrastruc or enter valu
phi_soil		Landslide-BrayMacedo2019	From user-provided GIS maps





The distribution of certain parameters can be set to "Normal" or "Lognormal" and the mean/median and standard deviation can both be defined.

Distribution Type	Mean or Median	Sigma		
Normal 🝷	DIAMETER	N/A		
Lognormal Normal				

#### 5.10 Using Generic Models

In each of the **Decision Variable**, **Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs has the option to use a "Generic Model." This option allows the user to input coefficients for their own models.

The user first needs to define the distribution (normal or lognormal). Then assign an output variable label and any upstream dependencies. Finally, the user needs to define the aleatory variability and epistemic uncertainty.

Select model distribution type: lognormal
Enter label for return parameter (limited to one for now): eps_comp_crit_rup
Select upstream dependency: EDP
Enter list of upstream parameters (use "," to separate labels and leave empty if none):

Next, the user can click the **Add** button to add additional levels or variable to the analysis (outlined in red below). The user must define the variable, the level (integral number), coefficient, whether it is lognormally or normally distributed, as well as its power.





Select model distribution type: log	normal 🗾							
Enter label for return parameter (limited to one for now): eps_comp_crit_rup								
Select upstream dependency: EDP								
Enter list of upstream parameters (	Enter list of upstream parameters (use "," to separate labels and leave empty if none):							
Generic Model Definition								
Variable	Level	Coefficient	Apply Ln	Power	^			
	1	-2.3	false	0				
pga	1	0.5	true	1				
mag	2	10	false	2				
var_3	3	+2	false	1				
var.3       3       +2       false       1         Add       Remove       Image: Constraint of the second s								





# 6 Running Built-In Examples

There are over twenty built in examples to demonstrate how to configure *OpenSRA* for various problems. These examples are listed under "Examples" in the task-bar. Selecting any of the examples will prompt *OpenSRA* to import the preconfigured settings. Note that no edits need to be made when running the examples, the user should be able to load examples from the task-bar and click "Preprocess" and "Perform Analysis" located at the bottom ribbon of the *OpenSRA* window.

🌒 Oj	penSRA						
File	Edit	Examples	Results	View	Help	GIS Map	
	Open         Above Ground Components           Below Ground - Landslide						
	Below Ground - Lateral Spread  Vis Below Ground - Liquefaction Induced Settlement Below Ground - Surface Fault Rupture						
	Using Generic Models						
Information			~		Bay_Area_Pipel	line_Network_Cl ?)e	
	Infr	astructur	е				

To run an example, choose one from the drop-down list in the task-bar, and the program will then prompt you to click "Preprocess" in the bottom ribbon.

OpenSRA	$\times$
Done loading setup configuration for the example. Click the "PREPROCESS" button to perform preprocessing on this setup.	
	ОК

When *OpenSRA* is running, runtime dialogs will be displayed in the "Program Output" widget at the bottom of the window. The widget can be undocked by double clicking the top bar, this allows the user to move the widget.







Once preprocessing is finished, the program will direct the user to click "Perform Analysis," also in the bottom ribbon of the *OpenSRA* window.

•	OpenSRA	$\times$	-
	Preprocess step complete. Click the "PERFORM ANALYSIS" button to perform the analysis.		
		К	

Once completed, the Program Output will show "Analysis complete, Results loaded"

Program Output
2023-01-04 - 06:55:04
06:55:05 - Analysis complete. Results loaded.

## 6.1 Details to Built-in Examples

The following outlines the analysis being performed within each example. Note that no edits need to be made when running the examples, the user should be able to load examples located in the tool-bar, click "Preprocess," and then "Perform Analysis" located at the bottom ribbon of the *OpenSRA* window. The locations of the example files are stored under "[InstallationDirectory]\OpenSRA\examples. It should be noted that some examples are built to fail at certain parts of the analysis as a check that the program is failing when the analysis is outside deformation boundaries or the example isn't given enough information. The examples are also likely to change with future releases of the program. Note: It will take some time for the program to set up the <u>first time</u> you run both the "PREPROCESS" and "PERFORM ANALYSIS").

Aboveground Components – These examples are for different above ground components. The Infrastructure tab will automatically select "Aboveground Components" and the Decision Variable, Damage Measure, and Engineering Demand Parameter tabs will show the "Aboveground Component" layouts (shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- AG-1 ShakeMap GIS Input This example uses a GIS input file combined with the Loma Prieta ShakeMap to calculate the probability of well-head leakage, rupture, and pressure vessel rupture.
- AG-2 UCERF CSV Input This example uses a CSV input file combined with UCERF3 and the NGA-West2 models to calculate the probability of well-head leakage, rupture, and pressure vessel rupture.





- AG-3 – UCERF with Filters CSV Input – This example uses a CSV input file combined with UCERF3 (with magnitude and distance filters checked) and the NGAWest2 models to calculate the probability of well-head leakage, rupture, and pressure vessel rupture.

**Below Ground – Landslide -** These examples are for buried pipelines subjected to landsliding. The "Infrastructure" tab will automatically select "Pipelines" and the **Decision Variable**, **Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs will show the "Pipeline" layouts (shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- BG-L-1 Level1 Balboa Blvd with CA Inventory ShakeMaps (Fails in Preprocess) This example uses multiple pipelines on Balboa Boulevard combined with the South Napa ShakeMap to estimate the probability of pipeline rupture and leakage. Specifically, this example utilizes the landslide inventory (on the Engineering Demand Parameter tab).
- BG-L-2 Level 1 Bay Area No Deformation Polygon UCERF This example is using the publicly available pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with UCERF3 and NGAWest2 to estimate the probability of pipeline rupture and leakage. Specifically, this example does not utilize the landslide inventory (on the Engineering Demand Parameter tab).
- BG-L-3 Level1 Bay Area with CA Inventory ShakeMaps This example is using the publicly available pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with the Loma Prieta (both unscaled and scaled to PGA = 0.5g), and the South Napa ShakeMaps to estimate the probability of pipeline rupture and leakage. Specifically, this example utilizes the landslide inventory (on the **Engineering Demand Parameter** tab).
- BG-L-4 Level1 Bay Area with CA Inventory UCERF This example is using the publicly available pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with UCERF3 and NGA-West2 to estimate the probability of pipeline rupture and leakage due to landsliding. Specifically, this example does utilize the landslide inventory (on the Engineering Demand Parameter tab).

**Below Ground – Lateral Spread -** These examples are for buried pipelines subjected to lateral spreading. The "Infrastructure" tab will automatically select "Pipelines" and the **Decision Variable**, **Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs will show the "Pipeline" layouts (shown in shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- BG-LS-1 Level1\_Balboa\_Blvd\_UCERF This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with UCERF3 and NGA-West2 to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 1 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-2 Level1 Bay Area ShakeMap 1989 Loma Prieta Scaled to PGA=0.5g This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with the





Loma Prieta ShakeMap scaled to a PGA of 0.5g to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 1 models in the **Engineering Demand Parameter**, **Decision Variable**, and **Damage Measure** tabs.

- BG-LS-3 Level1 Bay Area ShakeMap 1989 Loma Prieta User Specified Maps This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with the Loma Prieta ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 1 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-4 Level1 Bay Area ShakeMap 2014 South Napa This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with the South Napa ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 1 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-5 Level 1 Bay Area UCERF This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with UCERF3 and NGAWest2 to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 2 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-6 Level2 Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1971 San Fernando This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the San Fernando ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 2 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-7 Level 2 Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1994 Northridge This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the Northridge ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 2 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-8 Level 2 Balboa Blvd UCERF This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with UCERF3 and NGAWest2 to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using Level 2 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-9 Level 3 CPT Alameda UCERF (Fails in Preprocess) This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with UCERF3 and NGAWest2 to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs. This example is supposed to fail in the





"Preprocess" phase, as the pipelines do not intersect the zone of deformation interpreted from the CPT's.

- BG-LS-10 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1971 San Fernando This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined the San Fernando ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-11 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1994 Northridge This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the Northridge ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-LS-12 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd UCERF This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with UCERF3 and NGAWest2 to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.

**Below Ground – Liquefaction Induced Settlement -** These examples are for buried pipelines subjected to liquefaction induced settlement. The "Infrastructure" tab will automatically select "Pipelines" and the **Decision Variable**, **Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs will show the "Pipeline" layouts (shown in shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- BG-S-1 Level 1 Bay Area ShakeMap This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with Loma Prieta (both unscaled and scaled to PGA = 0.5g), San Fernando, Northridge, and South Napa ShakeMaps to calculate the probability of failure due to liquefaction induced settlement, using Level 1 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-S-2 Level 1 Bay Area UCERF This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with UCERF3 and NGAWest2 to calculate the probability of failure due to liquefaction induced settlement, using Level 1 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.
- BG-S-3 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMaps (Fails in Preprocess) This example uses the pipelines at Balboa Blvd combined with the Loma Prieta (both unscaled and scaled to PGA = 0.5g), San Fernando, Northridge, and South Napa ShakeMaps to calculate the probability of failure due to liquefaction induced settlement, using CPT data and Level 3 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.





 BG-S-4 – Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd UCERF (Fails in Preprocess) – This example uses the pipelines at Balboa Blvd with UCERF3 and NGA-West2 to calculate the probability of failure due to liquefaction induced settlement, using CPT data and Level 3 models in the Engineering Demand Parameter, Decision Variable, and Damage Measure tabs.

**Below Ground – Surface Fault Rupture -** These examples are for buried pipelines subjected to landsliding. The **Infrastructure** tab will automatically select "Pipelines" and the **Decision Variable, Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs will show the "Pipeline" layouts (shown in shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- BG-SFR-1 Bay Area This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in the Bay Area combined with the fault rupture models included in *OpenSRA* to predict the probability of failure due to fault rupture.
- BG-SFR-2 Los Angeles This example uses the prepackaged pipeline network in Los Angeles combined with the fault rupture models included in *OpenSRA* to predict the probability of failure due to fault rupture.
- BG-SFR-3 Pipe Near Hayward This example uses a pipeline near the Hayward fault combined with the fault rupture models included in *OpenSRA* to predict the probability of failure due to fault rupture.

**Using Generic Model** – These examples are for buried pipelines subjected to lateral spreading. The **Infrastructure** tab will automatically select "Pipelines" and the **Decision Variable, Damage Measure,** and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs will show the "Pipeline" layouts (shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- GM-1 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1994 Northridge Generic Model in DM DV
   This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the Northridge
   ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral
   spreading using CPT data and Level 3 methods in the Engineering Demand
   Parameter tab. In the Damage Measure and Decision Variable tabs, the "Generic Model" is selected and the inputs filled in.
- GM-2 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1994 Northridge Generic Model in DV This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the Northridge ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 methods in the Damage Measure and Engineering Demand Parameter tabs. In the Decision Variable tab, the "Generic Model" is selected and the inputs filled in.
- GM-3 Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1994 Northridge Generic Model in DV Single Integral – This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the Northridge ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to





lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 methods in the **Damage Measure** and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs. In the **Decision Variable** tab, the "Generic Model" is selected and the inputs filled in, forcing the program to only calculate one integral intensity measure to decision variable.

GM-4 – Level 3 CPT Balboa Blvd ShakeMap 1994 Northridge Generic Model in EDP DV

 This example uses the pipeline at Balboa Blvd combined with the Northridge ShakeMap to predict the probability of pipeline leakage and rupture due to lateral spreading using CPT data and Level 3 methods in the Damage Measure tab. In the Decision Variable, and Engineering Demand Parameter tabs, the "Generic Model" is selected and the inputs filled in.

**Wells and Caprocks –** These examples are for wells and caprocks subjected to ground shaking and fault displacement. The "Infrastructure" tab will automatically select "Wells and Caprocks" and the **Decision Variable**, **Damage Measure**, and **Engineering Demand Parameter** tabs will show the "Wells and Caprocks" layouts (shown in shown in Sections 5.5 through 5.7).

- WC-1 UCERF CSV Input This example uses wells and caprocks at Honor Rancho combined with UCERF3, NGAWest2, and Quaternary Faults and Folds traces to predict the probability of failure due to ground shaking and fault displacement.
- WC-2 Userdef Rupture GIS Input This example uses wells and caprocks at Honor Rancho combined with a user defined rupture input through a GIS file to predict the probability of failure due to ground shaking and fault displacement





# 7 Constructing a New Scenario in *OpenSRA*

To construct a brand-new analysis in *OpenSRA*, follow the instructions below and refer to examples for specific file structure

- 1. Create a folder on your computer. This folder will be referred to as the working directory.
- 2. Prepare any infrastructure or site data
  - a. The data file(s) should be located anywhere on the user's computer except in the working directory
- 3. In the **General Information** tab on the side-bar
  - a. Select **Browse** next to "Working Directory", locate, and add the folder from Step 1
- 4. In the **Infrastructure** tab on the side-bar
  - a. Select type of infrastructure by selecting one of the following buttons **Pipelines**, **Wells and Caprocks**, or **Aboveground Gas Infrastructure**
  - b. Browse and locate the site data file created in Step 2.
- 5. In the **Decision Variable** tab on the side-bar
  - a. For each decision variable you want to assess:
    - i. Pick a method to use
    - ii. Assign the weight
    - iii. Select or fill in and of the available options (epistemic uncertainty, landslide inventory etc.)
    - iv. Click "Add run to list"
    - v. Repeat for additional methods
    - vi. If using the Generic Model see Section 5.10
- 6. In the **Damage Measure** tab on the side-bar
  - a. For each demand you want to assess:
    - i. Pick a method to use
    - ii. Assign the weight
    - iii. Select or fill in and of the available options (epistemic uncertainty, landslide inventory etc.)
    - iv. Click "Add run to list"
    - v. Repeat for additional methods
    - vi. If using the Generic Model see Section 5.10
- 7. In the Engineering Demand Parameter tab on the side-bar
  - a. For each demand you want to assess:
    - i. Pick a method to use
    - ii. Assign the weight
    - iii. Select or fill in and of the available options (epistemic uncertainty, landslide inventory etc.)
    - iv. Click "Add run to list"
    - v. Repeat for additional methods
    - vi. If using the Generic Model see Section 5.10





- 8. In the Intensity Measure tab on the side-bar
  - a. Select UCERF3 (Preferred), ShakeMap, or User-defined Rupture from the drop-down menu at the top.
  - b. If using UCERF3
    - i. Select if you would like filters applied for magnitude, distance, or mean annual rate
    - ii. If you have site-specific data specify the column in the "Infrastructure" table for  $V_{s30}$ ,  $Z_{1.0}$ , or  $Z_{2.5}$ .
  - c. If using ShakeMap
    - i. Select **Browse** and navigate to the location of the ShakeMap file
    - ii. Select the type of Intensity Measure to visualize (PGA or PGV)
    - iii. Click Load
    - iv. Repeat for additional ShakeMaps
- 9. If available import GIS or CPT data in the GIS and CPT Data tab
  - a. Select which type of data you would like to import in the drop-down menu
  - b. Select Browse and navigate to the location of the file you wish to import
- 10. In the Input Variables tab on the side-bar
  - a. Asses each of the inputs listed, under source select "From Infrastructure table or enter value" or "From user-defined maps" if applicable
- 11. Click **Preprocess**
- 12. Once prompted select **Perform Analysis**
- 13. To load previously run results:
  - a. Click **Results** on the task-bar at the top
  - b. Click Load Results from the drop-down menu
  - c. Click Browse
  - d. Navigate to the "analysis" folder under the working directory you specified under "Step b" (2 steps above).
  - e. Click Select folder at the bottom
  - f. Click Load Results





# 8 Glossary

#### Damage Measure (DM)

Parameters that quantify the physical damage caused by engineering demand parameters. DMs currently available in *OpenSRA* include transient pipe strain.

#### Decision Variables (DV)

Parameters that quantify the consequences of damages, engineering demands, and/or groundshaking intensities. DVs currently available in *OpenSRA* include ground-shake and deformation induced repair rates.

#### **Engineering Demand Parameters (EDP)**

Parameters that quantify the effect that intensity measures have on the system response. EDPs currently available in *OpenSRA* include liquefaction, lateral spread, ground settlement, landslide, surface fault rupture, subsurface fault rupture, and transient ground strain.

#### Intensity Measures (IM)

Parameters that quantify the intensity of ground-shaking at a site. IMs currently available in *OpenSRA* include Peak Grounds Acceleration (PGA) and Peak Ground Velocity (PGV).

**Task-bar** - the horizontal bar with drop-down lists at the top of the *OpenSRA* window (outlined in red).

Left Side-bar - the vertical bar on the left side of the *OpenSRA* window where the user can switch between tabs including General Information, Decision Variable, Damage Measure, Engineering Demand Parameter, Intensity Measure, GIS and CPT Data, and Input Variables.

**Bottom Ribbon** - the three buttons at the bottom of the *OpenSRA* window (outlined in green). Sometimes the ribbon can become obstructed; to fix, adjust the size of the *OpenSRA* window.

**Project Output –** the bottom dialog widget that updates the user on the progress of preprocessing and analysis run (outlined in blue).